

2025 | SOUTHERN QUEENSLAND

Rental Affordability Snapshot





Acknowledgement of Country

Anglicare Southern Queensland acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the first Australians and recognises their culture, history, diversity, and deep connection to the land. We acknowledge the Traditional Owners and Custodians of the land on which our service was founded and on which our sites are operating today.

We pay our respects to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders both past and present, who have influenced and supported Anglicare Southern Queensland on its journey thus far. We also extend that respect to our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, clients and partners (past, present and future) and we hope we can work together to build a service that values and respects our First Nations people.

We acknowledge the past and present injustices that First Nations people have endured and seek to understand and reconcile these histories as foundational to moving forward together in unity.

Anglicare is committed to being more culturally responsive and inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and we are committed to embedding cultural capabilities across all facets of the organisation.

About Anglicare Southern Queensland

Anglicare Southern Queensland (Anglicare) has responded to the needs of our community through more than 150 years of delivering innovative, quality care services.

More than 3,000 Anglicare staff and volunteers operate across southern Queensland and in Townsville. Our comprehensive, integrated range of community services includes community aged care; residential

aged care; and community support programs, including youth justice, child safety, disability support, counselling and education, mental health, homelessness, and chronic conditions. Our services are designed to 'wrap around' clients in a comprehensive way, recognising their health needs but also addressing the social needs which contribute to wellness.



Contents

About Anglicare Southern Queensland	2
List of tables	4
Introduction	5
The bottom line	6
What did we find?	10
Rental affordability and housing stress are having a profound impact on young Queenslanders	11
'We would rather not have you here'	14
'Couches are not a long term living arrangement'	18
Lifting people out of crisis is a policy choice	19
Federal Government	19
Queensland Government	20
Local government	20
Anglicare Southern Queensland	21
A final word	22
Acknowledgements	22
Appendix A: Summary tables by region	23
Brisbane Metro	23
Logan–Beaudesert	24
Ipswich	25
Gold Coast	26
Sunshine Coast	27
Moreton Bay	28
Wide Bay	29
Darling Downs–Maranoa	30
Queensland Outback SA4 (southern area)	31
Appendix B: A note on methodology	32
References	34



List of tables

Table 1	Unique properties affordable and appropriate for people on income support and minimum wage, southern Queensland regions
Table 2	Number and percentage of affordable and appropriate properties by household type, southern Queensland
Table 3	Median rent as a % of household income — single people, all southern Queensland regions
Table 4	Queensland Youth Housing Coalition collated data from Australia's 2021 census about youth homelessness in Queensland.
Table 5	Summary table, Brisbane Metro
Table 6	Summary table, Logan–Beaudesert
Table 7	Summary table, lpswich
Table 8	Summary table, Gold Coast
Table 9	Summary table, Sunshine Coast
Table 10	Summary table, Moreton Bay
Table 11	Summary table, Wide Bay
Table 12	Darling Downs–Maranoa
Table 13	Queensland Outback SA4 (southern)



Introduction

Since 2010, Anglicare Australia and a network of state and regional partners have conducted the annual *Rental Affordability Snapshot*. Now in its sixteenth year, findings across the country continue to expose an alarming trend in the private rental market.

In a 2017 article about that year's *Snapshot*, we observed: "What is distinctive about the *Snapshot* is the sheer consistency of the results, right across the country.... year after year, the private rental market has been shown to be out of reach of the vast majority of people in receipt of benefits or on minimum wage".¹

To this day, rental affordability has not improved – has in fact worsened – Australia-wide and in southern Queensland.

The connections between housing and wellbeing are tangible, and reveal the cascading impacts of a lack of rental affordability on our young people and our communities.

With the global economic conditions of the 2020s continuing to generate a cost-of-living crisis, the 2025 *Anglicare Southern Queensland Rental Affordability Snapshot* bears witness to Australia's high levels of poverty, food insecurity, and housing instability.² This report aims to capture some of those impacts in a region stretching from the Queensland–New South Wales border, north to Bundaberg, and west to the Northern Territory border.

Five years ago, Anglicare Southern Queensland (Anglicare) flagged the particular difficulties young people face in a competitive rental market, and noted that they were more likely than any other age cohort to be in precarious housing.³ As one young professional pointed out in a recent Anglicare cost-of-living survey, even those young people in full time work are struggling:

After having lived independently since the age of 18 ... I have sadly made the hard decision to move back in with my parents this year, at the age of 28. I have a good salary ... but see no other option with the current rental market in Brisbane... As a young professional with no dependants and almost no debt ... I am surprised to find that it has affected me too.⁴

Youth researcher Dr Intifar Chowdhury (herself a young researcher) observed recently:

Every generation thinks they had it tough, but evidence suggests young Australians today might have a case for saying they've drawn the short straw. Compared with young adults two or three decades ago, today's 18–35-year-olds may earn more, but they also grapple with soaring living costs, rising education expenses, precarious employment and mounting debt.⁵

These vulnerabilities are borne out in the statistics, and in youth attitudes toward their own future housing. Commentary from national real estate news outlet *Real Estate Business* observes:

Young Australians are bearing the brunt of the rent affordability crisis, with 84 per cent of households aged 15–24 renting with a lower income.⁶

According to the 2024 Australian Youth Barometer, only "31% of young people think it is likely or extremely likely that they will be able to afford a comfortable place to live in the next 12 months."

Young people's fears about housing are certainly justified by our 2025 *Snapshot* findings. In this year's report, against a backdrop not only of cost-of-living challenges, but also a broader government and community narrative of suspicion and negativity directed at young people, we spotlight the cohorts of young people who are doing it especially tough. Unaffordable housing plays a major role in exacerbating the difficulties they face. Housing, as we have said in many previous *Snapshots*, is never simply a roof over one's head.



The bottom line

The lack of rental affordability for people on low incomes across southern Queensland continues to be extreme.

Of the 8646 rental properties surveyed, we found:

	Number of unique properties affordable and appropriate for households on income support.	Number of unique properties affordable and appropriate for those on minimum wage.
Brisbane (N ,S, E, W, Inner) (3444 properties)	20 (0.6%)	75 (2.2%)
Logan–Beaudesert (701 properties)	2 (0.3%)	114 (16.2%)
Ipswich (703 properties)	1 (0.1%)	174 (25%)
Gold Coast (1563 properties)	0 (0%)	2 (0.1%)
Sunshine Coast (732 properties)	2 (0.3%)	7 (0.1%)
Moreton Bay (North and South) (799 properties)	2 (0.3%)	106 (13.3%)
Wide Bay (358 properties)	3 (0.8%)	70 (20%)
Darling Downs–Maranoa (343 properties)	11 (3.2%)	114 (33.2%)
Qld Outback (southern) (4 properties)	0 (0%)	4 (100%)
OVERALL (8646 properties)	41 (0.5%)	666 (7.7%)

Table 1. Unique properties affordable and appropriate for people on income support and minimum wage, southern Queensland regions.

Effective date: 24/04/25 Page 6 of 41 **1300 610 610 | anglicaresq.org.au**



Number and percentage of affordable & appropriate properties by household type

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable & Appropriate
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker Payment (both) + Energy Supplements + FTB A + FTB B	243	3%	5583	65%	6	0%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single + Energy Supplement + Basic Pension Supplement + Pharmaceutical Allowance + FTB A + FTB B	109	1%	5583	65%	2	0%
Couple, no children	Age Pension + Pension supplement + Energy supplement	109	1%	8302	96%	14	0%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single + Energy Supplement + Basic Pension Supplement + Pharmaceutical Allowance + FTB A + FTB B	67	1%	7532	87%	3	0%
Single, one child (aged over 14)	JobSeeker Payment + Energy Supplement + Pharmaceutical Allowance + FTB A +FTB B	37	0%	7532	87%	2	0%
Single	Age Pension + Pension supplement + Energy supplement	24	0%	8646	100%	24	0%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension + Energy Supplement + Pension Supplement	24	0%	8302	96%	1	0%
Single	JobSeeker Payment + Energy Supplement	0	0%	8646	100%	0	0%



Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable & Appropriate
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance + Energy Supplement	0	0%	8646	100%	0	0%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance + Energy Supplement	0	0%	8646	100%	0	0%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage (both adults) + FTB A	1830	21%	5583	65%	621	7%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage and Parenting Payment Single + Energy Supplement +Basic Pension Supplement + Pharmaceutical Allowance + FTB A +FTB B	748	9%	5583	65%	71	1%
Single	Minimum Wage	45	1%	8646	100%	45	1%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage and Parenting Payment Partnered + Energy Supplement + FTB A + FTB B	748	9%	5583	65%	71	1%
Total No. of Properties	8646						

Table 2. Number and percentage of affordable and appropriate properties by household type, southern Queensland.

- A rental property may be affordable and appropriate for more than one household type.
- Household 12 (Single, two children: one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) may also be eligible for the Parenting Payment (Single). From 2024, the Snapshot includes this payment in our calculations.



Of the 8646 rental properties surveyed across southern Queensland, we found:

0.5%

Only 41 unique properties (0.5%) were affordable and appropriate for households on income support.

7.7%

Only 666 unique properties (7.7%) were affordable and appropriate for those on minimum wage.



Anglicare's Hanging by a Thread: Our Search for Home

Young people from Anglicare's youth homelessness and youth justice services explore their personal perceptions of home and homelessness through photography, using "photovoice," in the <u>Hanging by a Thread: Our Search for Home art exhibition.</u>

The art that these young Queenslanders produced probes – and sometimes challenges – our understandings of home. The name of the exhibition reveals uncertainties and struggles, frustration and loneliness, as well as the sheer dogged resilience and courage that it takes to navigate a life between home and homelessness.

The impact of these young people's stories influenced the design of Anglicare's new youth accommodation for our <u>Youth Homelessness Project</u>.

This exhibition and research project were founded in a collaboration with the Life Course Centre at The University of Queensland.



What did we find?

This year's *Snapshot* of rental affordability across regions in southern Queensland varies so little from last year's findings that improvements are effectively meaningless.

There are 0% affordable and appropriate homes available for every household category on income support. Across the region, the percentage of homes that are both affordable and available for singles and couples with young children on minimum wage and/or parenting payments remains negligible, with most at 1% and the best scenario still only 7%.

In the **Brisbane metropolitan** area, there are approximately the same number of rentals available this year as last year (3444 vs 3483). While the *number* of available properties that were affordable and appropriate for households on income support and households on minimum wage has increased slightly, the improvement has little impact on the overall *percentage* of available, suitable homes.

There is not one household category in Brisbane Metro nor **Ipswich** in which the median rent falls below the 30% benchmark for affordability.

Both these regions are seeing the emergence of new-build 'singles-only' accommodation, comprising a bedroom/kitchenette/small living area with access to a full communal kitchen and laundry facilities. Despite often being described in real estate advertisements as 'micro apartments' or studios, these are effectively 'rooming accommodation', subject to the same single occupancy fire and other regulations as boarding houses.

Coastal areas continue to be the least affordable across southern Queensland. Significant numbers of properties in these areas specified leases of six months or less, and were not therefore included in our calculations. Establishing a 'home' and a place in a community is an endeavour that can rarely be achieved with the knowledge that in less than 26 weeks one will be moving again, and forced moves have been shown to be highly detrimental to wellbeing.⁸

- Of 1563 properties for rent on the **Gold Coast**, there are 0 available for people on income support, and 2 properties for those on minimum wage. This year the Gold Coast offers the worst affordability in the state for a single person on Youth Allowance, with weekly median rent at 153% of income.
- As in 2024, there are 0%–1% affordable and appropriate properties on the **Sunshine Coast**, and not one household category can rent a property at median rent for less than 44% of the household income.
- Wide Bay has 3 affordable properties available for those on income support; and just 70 for those on minimum wage. Households in every one of our 14 categories commit from 33%–110% of their household income toward the median rent.
- A single person on Youth Allowance in Moreton Bay north and south region will be paying 110% of their income
 to match the weekly median rent for a one-bedroom property, and 94% of their income for a room in a share
 house. There are no properties for any household category in either Moreton Bay or Logan-Beaudesert that
 meet the 30% of household income cut off for affordability.
- Affordability hovers close to one third (30%-33%) of income for two households on minimum wage in the **Darling Downs–Maranoa** region, but every other household would pay from 38%-105% of their income to match the weekly median rent for appropriate accommodation.
- In this region and the **Queensland Outback SA4**, local availability becomes an even more pressing issue. The Darling Downs–Maranoa region covers more than 160,000 km², while the southern area of the Queensland Outback SA4 included in this report covers more than 500,000km² from Blackall across to the Northern Territory and South Australian borders. On the *Snapshot* weekend, as in 2024, there was a total of 4 properties available in the latter region: two in Blackall, one in Tambo and one in Cunnamulla.



Rental affordability and housing stress are having a profound impact on young Queenslanders

In every region in southern Queensland (apart from Outback Queensland, where there was no availability at all on the *Snapshot* weekend), the highest level of rental stress across all household categories is experienced by single people. While not all single people are young, at least half of our household categories are eligible for Youth Allowance, which cuts out at a maximum of 24 years old.⁹

A young person in a share house in Brisbane can pay 150% of their income to match the median rent for shared accommodation. The lowest proportion of any region, in the Darling Downs–Maranoa area, is still 83% of Youth Allowance, leaving 17c out of each dollar for food, utilities, transport, medication, and other essentials.

Even those working and earning minimum wage face significant challenges, with no region below the 30% benchmark for rental stress.

		Brisbane	Ipswich	Gold Coast	Sunshine Coast	Wide Bay	Moreton Bay	Logan	Darling Downs	Queensland Outback
				Media	n rent as	a % of hou	usehold in	come		
Single	JobSeeker	143%	101%	96%	83%	87%	88%	89%	76%	n/a
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	145%	117%	153%	134%	110%	120%	107%	105%	n/a
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	150%	108%	103%	89%	93%	94%	95%	83%	n/a
Single	Minimum wage	55%	39%	60%	48%	35%	40%	34%	33%	n/a

Table 3. Median rent as a % of household income — single people, all southern Queensland regions.

Data from the 2021 census also suggests that young people are overrepresented amongst unhoused Queenslanders. While census data is likely to be an under-estimate, figures collated by the Queensland Youth Housing Coalition (Table 4) indicate that the percentage of young Queenslanders in need of housing ranged from 14.7% (Sunshine Coast) to 30.8% (Logan) of southern Queensland's homeless population. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Youth represent between 4% (Gold Coast) and 83.9% (Queensland Outback Region) of southern Queensland's homeless population.

The only region that witnessed a reduction in youth homelessness between 2016 and 2021 was Brisbane (29.3%), with all other regions having an increase between 6.8% in Moreton and a dire 76.6% in Toowoomba.¹⁴



Region in Southern Queensland	Total Number of Homeless People	Total Number of Youth*	% Youth	# Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Youth	% Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Youth	% Increase / Reduction since 2016 Census	# Youth in " Other Marginal" Accommodation
Brisbane	4340	822	18.9%	83	10.1%	29.3% reduction	644
lpswich	1503	415	27.6%	62	14.9%	39.3% increase	655
Gold Coast	1829	322	17.6%	13	4%	8.8% increase	308
Sunshine Coast	1378	202	14.7%	31	15.3%	32% increase	163
Wide Bay	1835	361	19.7%	79	21.9%	41.6% increase	311
Moreton	1433	316	22.1%	41	13%	6.8% increase	373
Logan	1718	529	30.8%	48	9.1%	49% increase	677
Toowoomba	821	226	27.5%	40	17.7%	76.6% increase	225
Darling Downs – Maranoa	499	91	18.2%	25	27.5%	56.9% increase	73
Queensland Outback Region (whole SA4)	1877	521	27.8%	437	83.9%	17.9% increase	319

Table 4. Queensland Youth Housing Coalition collated data from Australia's 2021 census about youth homelessness in Queensland.

^{*} Youth are defined as 12-24 years



This shift may indicate that young Queenslanders are moving from the city to the regions in an effort to find more secure housing, but this may be resulting in persistent youth homelessness becoming trenchant in more regional areas. The 2022 HBNC Fraser Coast Youth Survey, for example, notes that in their local area:

12.5% of young people reported experiencing homelessness, couch surfing or without a safe place to stay at some point in their lives. 1% were currently homeless, 8% had been homeless over 12 months ago, 2% were homeless within the last 6 months and 1% had been homeless within the last 12 months. 15

Because lack of rental affordability and housing stress are directly linked to housing instability and homelessness, it is clear that many young Queenslanders are at risk.

Mission Australia's Youth Survey 2022 found more than half of young people facing housing challenges report high levels of psychological distress – more than double the rate of their peers with stable homes. They're also much more likely to be lonely and to feel negative about the future.

"Youth homelessness is a destabilising, isolating and often traumatic experience which can have ongoing impacts on a person's life, their wellbeing and their future." (Major study reveals when young people are socially excluded, their mental health suffers - Orygen, Revolution in Mind)

This year's *Snapshot* also appears in the wake of major southern Queensland local councils taking significant steps to move on people experiencing homelessness. On 12 March 2025, the City of Moreton Bay repealed its Persons Experiencing Homelessness Camping Framework, making camping on public land illegal. ¹⁶ The next day, the City of Brisbane Lord Mayor Adrian Schrinner vowed to evict campers from Brisbane parks within 24 hours. ¹⁷ In mid April, the Gold Coast City Council issued move-on notices to people experiencing homelessness in Carey Park in Southport, and Mayor Tom Tate suggested offering the group a free bus ride to relocate to Byron Bay. ¹⁸

In an article called 'The outsiders: more than one way to criminalise homelessness', Wood et al. discuss the way in which such actions against people experiencing homelessness can be seen as a means of physical and social exclusion. Public spaces have certain sanctioned, purposive uses — shopping, 'transiting', brief periods of sitting to rest or eat — that are often at odds with the way in which people in need of a home use such spaces. Their 'unsanctioned use' of public spaces marks people out as 'outsiders' to their own community, which has deeply harmful flow-on impacts, particularly for young people.¹⁹

Of the various forms of housing precariousness, forced moves, unaffordability, and neighbourhood hostility have been shown to have the greatest impact on wellbeing;²⁰ and there is extensive evidence that shows that positive community ties and support are key protective factors for young people at risk.²¹ The lack of secure housing is therefore a major contributor to other social issues of concern to government and the community, such as the current focus on children and youth exhibiting offending behaviours.



'We would rather not have you here'22

While legislation prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender, age, religion and ethnicity, in a competitive rental environment 'living up to expectations' means fulfilling an increasingly narrow set of economic, social, and personal characteristics.

It is little wonder that young people find it difficult to compete.²³

Social disadvantage in relation to rental affordability and homelessness is intersectional. Young people who are susceptible to adversity due to factors such as race, gender, or sexuality may experience other vulnerabilities,²⁴ and factors such as exposure to domestic and family violence and/or low income may compound the challenges of obtaining appropriate housing.

The following section highlights young people who are at particularly high risk of housing instability and homelessness, and some of the barriers they face.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth

"Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people ... face unacceptably high levels of housing instability and homelessness, which can be detrimental in a young person's experiences of life, and their future." ²⁵

Between 2023 and 2024, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people were overrepresented amongst those seeking support from specialist homelessness services.²⁶

A recent study of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander residents in Brisbane and Logan confirms that these communities face intersecting barriers ranging from bureaucracy and service inaccessibility to discrimination, geographical location, and the need for comprehensive support.²⁷

Age is an intersectional factor, so when Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people are seeking to access housing, youth may compound these barriers even further.

Care leavers

Being a care leaver places young people at significant risk of housing insecurity over their lifetime.

Young people who are leaving out-of-home care (OOHC) often encounter considerable challenges when seeking to secure suitable housing, leading to long-term housing instability and homelessness.²⁸

These trends become even more acute amongst those who 'self-place' while still in OOHC: that is, when young people leave formal placements to stay in unapproved locations, including rough sleeping or staying with friends, family, kin, or strangers.²⁹

Following <u>The Home Stretch</u>, a successful national campaign to extend state support to care leavers until they are 21 years old, the Queensland Government committed to providing this additional support in late 2023.

Together with supportive relationships with social workers, counsellors, and residential care staff, extended care payments are critical in supporting care leavers to transition successfully from OOHC,³⁰ and improving outcomes relating to housing, relationships, education, physical and mental health, and overall wellbeing.³¹



LGBTIQ+ youth

LGBTIQ+ young people are also overrepresented in Queensland's youth homeless population.¹

Internationally, research suggests that major risk factors for LGBTIQ+ youth becoming in need of a suitable home include family breakdown and parental rejection, child abuse and neglect, mental health problems, drug use, and violence and sexual exploitation.³² In Australia, LGBTIQ+ youth who live in regional towns or rural or remote areas are at even greater risk.³³

Some LGBTIQ+ young people also experience discrimination when seeking rentals. As one young Queensland woman reflected:

It was so hard to find rent and my dad was with me at that time and my sister ... we were another race.... It was saying that ... "We would rather not have you here." ³⁴

A study of LGBTIQ+ youth in Queensland suggests that those who resort to couch surfing often do not access social services as they do not necessarily consider themselves to be homeless; many may, however, trade chores, rent, or sex to maintain access to housing.³⁵

Refugee and migrant youth

The phenomenon of homelessness experienced by young people of refugee background is profoundly under-recognised.³⁶

Refugee and migrant youth experience many of the same challenges that their communities face in terms of rental and housing affordability. Research suggests that geographical locations that were previously considered "gateway cities" or "gateway suburbs" for recently arrived immigrants have now become inaccessible due to housing affordability.³⁷ These challenges are experienced even more acutely amongst recently arrived refugees and asylum seekers.

More than a decade ago, an Australia study found that nearly three-quarters of refugee-background respondents were already experiencing difficulties with rental affordability.³⁸ Housing remains a major factor contributing to health and wellbeing in refugees and asylum seeker communities.³⁹

At one point we all slept in the car, five of us. I just kept moving schools and I had no friends.⁴⁰

For refugee and migrant youth, there are additional challenges. Young participants in a 2019 study talked about living in severely overcrowded housing, constant moves, and expectations to help other family members negotiate a new language, culture and systems, which required them to step up prematurely into 'adult' roles.⁴⁰

Effective date: 24/04/25 Page 15 of 41 1300 610 610 | anglicaresq.org.au

¹ Anglicare proudly serves Queensland's LGBTQIA+ community. Alternative terminology, including LBGT and queer, is used when reflected in the literature. For our approach to fostering diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging within this community see: Anglicare Southern Queensland. (2025). LGBTQIA+. Anglicare Southern Queensland. https://anglicaresq.org.au/about-us/community-impact/diversity-equity-inclusion-belonging/lgbtqia/



Pregnant youth and their children

Being a young Queenslander who is pregnant and in need of a home compounds disadvantage from one generation to the next.

Many parents-to-be experience the same trajectories towards needing secure housing as their peers. 41 Young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are overrepresented amongst pregnant youth who need suitable homes. 42

Housing instability also impacts the next generation. One North Queensland principal reflected on how stable housing relates to children's school attendance:

With the housing crisis, we have got a number of families who have some pretty dire living conditions ... tents, no running water, cars, multiple families in homes ... definitely impacts on coming to school, finding the uniform, washing the uniform ... even eating the night before, having a good sleep.... What we do need is to look at attendance as a community problem, not a school problem ... if we had somehow support for a whole family ... us [at schools] being part of [the solution], but not us running the stakeholders and driving the whole thing – because our resources are so depleted and it's only getting worse.⁴³

The children of young people who experience unstable housing may likewise be at risk of housing insecurity in the future.⁴⁴

Youth experiencing domestic and family violence

The pressures relating to rental affordability and the cost of living have the potential to exacerbate already existing pressures within families.

The prevalence of domestic and family violence in Australia is deeply concerning.⁴⁵ According to pioneering feminist journalist Dr Anne Summers, a profound gulf in opportunity exists between women who have experienced domestic violence and those who have not.⁴⁶

Children and young people who witness or experience domestic and family violence may be at greater risk of homelessness later in life.

Today, an alarmingly high proportion of young people between the ages of 16 and 24 years – 43.8% percent – have been exposed to domestic and family violence as children.⁴⁷ This is a form of child maltreatment. Witnessing or experiencing domestic and family violence as a child or a young person is a driver of youth homelessness.⁴⁸

According to Pam Barker of the Brisbane Youth Service, youth specialist homelessness services must respond to domestic and family violence "in the context of an emergency homelessness or housing response." Brisbane Youth Service data indicates 68% of their clients had experienced family violence.

Barker notes that young women and gender diverse youths are more likely to have current experiences of intimate partner violence than young men,⁵⁰

and that while 54% of young people 22–25 years old who access youth specialist homelessness services report experiences of family violence, 63% of young parents report intimate partner violence, leaving them at greater risk than those who are not parents.⁵¹



Young people with experience of the justice system

Rental affordability is an added complexity for young Queenslanders who have been involved in the youth justice system.

There is a longstanding correlation between homelessness and involvement in youth justice or incarceration, with the former often leading to the latter.⁵²

When leaving the youth justice system, young people may have difficulties re-entering the housing market, particularly due to rental affordability. One young Queensland man who had multiple points of contact with the youth justice system reflected on the supports he would find most useful after leaving:

[P]rograms like ... maybe try and get them into TAFE. Ah, programs teachin' them about rentals and all that, like gettin' houses.⁵³

The Queensland Family & Child Commission acknowledges that secure housing, as well as access to employment and education, are necessary to support young people make a successful transition out of the youth justice system.⁵⁴

Students

Effective date: 24/04/25

The sheer extent of the housing crisis means that challenges relating to rental affordability are increasingly touching young Queenslanders who may have not experienced these vulnerabilities in the past.

Many of the Queenslanders who are becoming vulnerable to housing insecurity are young adults who are engaged in study. Positive social, cultural, and economic environments and living in preferred accommodation improve student wellbeing, leading to better long-term employment outcomes.⁵⁵

Following the Federal Government's Job-Ready Graduates Package in 2021, however, the costs associated with higher education in Australia have skyrocketed, leading to greater financial pressures than ever before.⁵⁶

University students are increasingly experiencing housing stress and housing instability due to the unaffordable private rental market. This is exacerbated due to precarious employment, food insecurity, and high rent, with cascading impacts on academic achievement.⁵⁷ Researchers Purcell and Davidson identify a desperate need for research that focuses on housing insecurity and homelessness amongst young people in higher education.⁵⁸

International students face many of the same challenges relating to rental affordability, but these experiences can be exacerbated due to newly living in a different country.⁵⁹ International students are also more vulnerable to being exploited by landlords.⁶⁰

The unpaid nature of many university and vocational education student placements is a significant compounding factor in rental affordability.⁶¹ 'Placement poverty' refers to the financial stress, food insecurity, and accommodation challenges that many students experience while completing unpaid student placements, and it has significant impacts on student wellbeing.⁶² As one young Queensland woman reflected:

Trying to, you know, do [an] unpaid placement.... At the time I was living at home and trying to like put bills and stuff on top of that was just a lot.... Yeah, 40 hours of unpaid work and then going to my other to my actually paid job and do that.⁶³

In May 2024, the federal government introduced the Commonwealth Prac Payment to alleviate placement poverty for up to up to 68,000 university students and over 5,000 vocational education and training student students completing degrees in nursing, midwifery, social work, and teaching.⁶⁴ This does not cover all degrees that require placements.



'Couches are not a long term living arrangement'65



The responses of young people to housing precariousness are often 'invisible', untraceable in data, and highly insecure. These include couch surfing, informal housing, and living at home for longer — by necessity rather than choice.

Our discussion above reveals that share housing — a traditional rite of passage for many young people (particularly those in higher education) — has become so deeply unaffordable that it is often no longer a viable alternative for those on lower incomes. Research suggests that some young people may resort to Buy Now, Pay Later financial products to cover rent, ⁶⁶ a strategy that often has significant impacts on the debt profile and financial vulnerability of users. ⁶⁷

Couch surfing

Couch surfing, including temporary accommodation with friends, family, acquaintances, or strangers, is particularly concentrated within the youth population.⁶⁸

When compared to other specialist homelessness services clients, young people — especially those who presented to services alone between 2023 and 2024 — were most likely to be couch surfing.⁶⁹ Data from the 2018 census identified that young people in Moreton Bay, for example, were living in severely overcrowded premises, couch surfing, or in crisis accommodation, rather than sleeping rough.⁷⁰

For many, couch surfing is a response to rental affordability that is shaped by instability. A study of young Queenslanders who couch surfed suggests that instability, especially the number of places stayed at while couch surfing, leads many young people to experience psychological distress.⁷¹

Informal housing

Effective date: 24/04/25

Informal housing falls outside what we might usually think of as housing. Typically, this includes dwellings that are not included in the government's control or regulation of housing.

Urban studies and planning research suggests that informal housing is "characterised by unauthorised or unregulated dwellings in urban and peri-urban areas." Since this might include housing without legal title or with substandard infrastructure or precarious tenure, informal housing "presents complex issues related to housing quality, safety and access to essential services."

These are properties excluded from the *Rental Affordability Snapshot* because they do not offer any semblance of the right to security and safety that should be core to an individual's experience of 'home'. They include garages, garden sheds, workshops, shops and warehouses.



Living at home for longer

Over the past few decades, there has been an established and growing phenomenon of young Australians continuing to live with their parents well into adulthood.

The 2017 Household Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) survey data identified that nearly one third of all young adults were "co-residing with their parents, either in a rent-free arrangement or pay[ing] board."⁷⁴ By 2021, HILDA data suggested that "54% of young men and 47% of young women aged 18–29 remained living with their parents" – a significant increase in only four years.⁷⁵

One young woman told researchers from the Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice:

Being independent is an important step for young people but the cost for moving out makes it less achievable.... Government should take some intervention to control the house price and provide financial support for renting among young people.⁷⁶

The pressures associated with rental affordability may shape the need to remain in the family home for longer than young people (or their parents) may wish.

Lifting people out of crisis is a policy choice

The housing crisis is a problem with many parts and levers, including the housing and private rental markets, social and affordable housing supply, and housing and homelessness assistance, among other factors. Addressing the challenges therefore needs a holistic view across the whole housing spectrum, from homelessness and social housing through to affordable rental and home ownership; and to consider touchpoints with broader social issues such as economic hardship, employment, and education.

Federal Government

With a Federal election looming at the time of this *Snapshot*, housing has been a significant focus of election promises from the major parties. While reception from economic commentators has been mixed regarding the promised initiatives, it is welcome to see, after decades of housing inactivity, some further evidence of Federal recognition that the scale of the housing crisis is too great to be resolved by state governments alone.

As several housing experts have pointed out, however, underlying supply issues remain a critical issue, and the nature of policies designed to assist first time homeowners that stimulate demand are likely to add more pressure to markets and prices,⁷⁷ and subsequently on renters.

Both major parties are overlooking those who need the most help.

Recently released SGS Economics and Planning/National Shelter data shows the depth of the disparity between median rents and income growth across the country, with rents having risen at least 3.5 times faster than income in regional Queensland, and three times faster in Brisbane.⁷⁸

For those on income support, this effect is further exacerbated by the stagnation of Jobseeker and related payments.

Anglicare continues to advocate with numerous other voices for an increase to income support. As the Australian Council of Social Services points out, "income support should be there to support people through the tough times, not keep them in a struggle for survival".⁷⁹



Routine indexation increases are clearly insufficient to cover even basics such as housing, food, bills, and transport, particularly in a cost-of-living crisis.

With the Australian Council of Social Service (ACOSS) and others, we support the call for all income support payments to be raised to at least the Pension rate (\$82 a day) so people can afford life's essentials and live with dignity. No one should have to make a choice between putting food on the table, or the medicine they need.

Queensland Government

The Queensland Government's direct and indirect policy responses to rental affordability have had variable impacts upon housing insecurity in Queensland.

The Queensland Government under the ALP made notable efforts to engage with rental affordability and housing insecurity issues in recent years. In their Queensland Budget 2025-2026 paper, the Queensland Council of Social Service (QCOSS) noted that "Independent expert analysis found that the former Queensland Government's Homes for Queenslanders plan [was] a credible broad-reaching housing plan that includes nation-leading social housing targets that, if implemented long-term, [could] end the housing crisis in Queensland."⁸⁰

Against an ongoing backdrop of a national housing crisis, the new LNP Government has continued to make a significant commitment to housing, with the ambitious commitment of one million homes over the next twenty years, 81 including 53,500 new social housing dwellings by 2044.82 This involves delivering approximately 2,800 new social housing dwellings per annum for the next 19 years, estimated by QCOSS as a social housing commitment of at least \$1.86 billion p.a.83

This *Snapshot*, however, among other reports, makes clear that despite commitments to date from both sides of government, **much more needs to be done**.

We urge the Queensland Government to provide more detail about the Securing our Housing Foundations Plan,⁸⁴ including a **commitment to timelines**, **specific funding commitments**, **and regular and transparent reporting**.

We look forward to regular publication of the outcomes of the recently established Homelessness Ministerial Advisory Council, which will comprise leaders from across government, councils, and the housing, health, and community sectors, to "help better target crisis response[s] and drive sustainable, long-term solutions to homelessness". 85 This is a positive move if it remains true to the intent described by Minister for Housing, The Hon. Sam O'Connor:

"It will help us deliver **practical solutions** which work on the ground and ensure we're co-ordinating our response to homelessness with both **urgency and compassion**." 86

Similarly, we look forward to the relief provided for Queenslanders in need of housing through 500 new homes to be built in on church and charity-owned land in the next two years, and 10,000 homes in total.⁸⁷ As the human services arm of the Anglican Church Southern Queensland, Anglicare is keen to understand how this initiative will look on the ground.

Local government

Recent policy responses at the local government level to criminalise public camping by people experiencing homelessness, discussed earlier in this report, compound disadvantage and put pressure on other social services. The recent actions of several southern Queensland councils to criminalise people living in encampments in public spaces⁸⁸ are particularly ill-timed given the rental crisis outlined in this report.



Recent commentary by Jackson Hills, Manager of Policy & Strategic Engagement at QShelter, notes that the tension between public use of parks and similar spaces, and the need for those experiencing homelessness to find a place to sleep safely, is a difficult issue and challenging to resolve. We agree with Hills that:

Given the increasing pressures of homelessness and housing instability, now more than ever, a coordinated, strategic, and long-term response is needed to ensure that every Queenslander has a safe and stable place to call home.⁸⁹

For the sake of the individuals and families with no choice but to live in parks, there must be better ways than bulldozing their few belongings.⁹⁰

Anglicare Southern Queensland

Anglicare has long been, and remains, committed to supporting young Queenslanders who are in need of a suitable home.

Through the Anglicare <u>Youth Homelessness Project</u>, we are committed to raising \$14 million to build a service in Logan that aims to address the escalating housing crisis. The new building features a modern build that is custom designed to support young people who are either experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness.

Quality housing is proven to have positive psychological and psychosocial impacts as well as enhancing independence and self-agency. Anglicare believes that every young person deserves to come home to a positive living environment where they know they are cared for and where they feel safe and supported.





A final word

Researchers from the Centre for Social Impact pre-empted Jackson Hill's words above in their 2021 'deep dive' into ending homelessness in Australia, writing:

[W]ithout inclusion of affordable renting across all markets (social, community, and private), systematic consideration of the structural and individual drivers of homelessness, and the levers available to address drivers across all levels and functions of government, homelessness is an inevitable outcome.⁹¹

This is especially the case for individuals and families who face particular challenges and vulnerabilities. In this report we have focused on young people who, despite a range of policies in recent years at both Federal and state level that have relevance to youth housing, 92 still remain at significantly more risk of homelessness than adults.

Young people deserve more than to be one or two recommendations in an adult-focused policy. Brisbane Youth Service make a compelling case for a National Child and Youth Housing and Homelessness Plan to address the complex support needs of young people in a holistic way, recognising that wellbeing is more than a roof over one's head. Currently, the inadequacy of Youth Allowance, JobSeeker, and related payments undermines any opportunity of a home for those on income support; while young people from a range of backgrounds and life experiences often face high levels of housing insecurity, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people, care leavers, LGBTIQ+ youth, refugee and migrant young people, pregnant youth and their children, students, and those with experience of family violence or the justice system.

Recent research based on interviews with community, government, consultancy, developer, and peak housing body representatives in southeast Queensland makes the case that local, state, and federal governments need to work proactively and strategically with the housing sector to plan for a resilient housing system with policies that prepare for shocks.⁹³

In the current housing crisis, in a world now intensely susceptible to such shocks – globally as well as nationally – the human right to a home is more important than ever.

Acknowledgements

This report was prepared by Dr Ana Stevenson (Senior Advisor – Research & Evaluation) and Leanne Wood (Manager, Research Evaluation & Advocacy) with the valued assistance of Emma Barrie, Data Analyst.



Appendix A: Summary tables by region

Brisbane Metro

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	130	4%	1764	51%	0	0%	68%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	70	2%	1764	51%	0	0%	78%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	72	2%	3185	92%	3	0%	62%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	46	1%	2743	80%	1	0%	87%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	26	1%	2743	80%	1	0%	95%
Single	Age Pension	30	1%	3444	100%	0	0%	89%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	17	0%	3185	92%	0	0%	89%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	3444	100%	0	0%	143%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	3444	100%	0	0%	145%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	3444	100%	0	0%	150%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	689	20%	1764	51%	43	1%	40%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	340	10%	1764	51%	5	0%	51%
Single	Minimum Wage	54	2%	54	2%	32	1%	55%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	340	10%	1764	51%	5	0%	52%
Total No. of Properties	3444							
households on income support payment	20							
household on minimum wage	75							

 Table 5. Summary table, Brisbane Metro.



Logan-Beaudesert

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	21	3%	593	85%	1	0%	57%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	8	1%	593	85%	0	0%	65%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	8	1%	683	97%	1	0%	39%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	2	0%	667	95%	0	0%	65%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	1	0%	667	95%	0	0%	71%
Single	Age Pension	0	0%	701	100%	0	0%	59%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	0	0%	683	97%	0	0%	59%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	701	100%	0	0%	89%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	701	100%	0	0%	107%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	701	100%	0	0%	95%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	219	31%	593	85%	113	16%	33%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	62	9%	593	85%	3	0%	42%
Single	Minimum Wage	1	0%	1	0%	1	0%	34%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	62	9%	593	85%	3	0%	42%
Total No. of Properties	701							
households on income support payment	2							
household on minimum wage	114							

 Table 6. Summary table, Logan–Beaudesert.



Ipswich

Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Single, two children (one aged less than 10) Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Couple, no children Age Pension 1 0% 688 98% 0 0% 44% Single, one child (aged less than 5) Parenting Payment 1 0% 656 93% 0 0% 63%
(one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Single 1 0% 627 89% 0 0% 65% one 65% one 65% one 65% one 65% one aged less than 10) Couple, no children Age Pension 1 0% 688 98% 0 0% 44% one 65% one 6
Single, one child (aged less than 5) Parenting Payment 1 0% 656 93% 0 0% 63%
(aged less than 5) Single 1 0% 656 93% 0 0% 63%
Single, one child JobSeeker 1 0% 656 93% 0 0% 69% (aged over 8)
Single Age Pension 0 0% 703 100% 0 0% 66%
Single aged over 21 Disability Support Pension 0 0% 688 98% 0 0% 66%
Single JobSeeker 0 0% 703 100% 0 0% 101%
Single aged over 18 Youth Allowance 0 0% 703 100% 0 0% 117%
Single in share house Youth Allowance 0 0% 703 100% 0 0% 108%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Minimum Wage + 245 35% 627 89% 173 25% 32%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Minimum Wage + 66 9% 627 89% 9 1% 41%
Single Minimum Wage 1 0% 1 0% 1 0% 39%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10) Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B
Total No. of Properties 703
households on income 1 support payment
household on minimum 174 wage

Table 7. Summary table, Ipswich.



Gold Coast

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	5	0%	906	58%	0	0%	82%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	1	0%	906	58%	0	0%	93%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	1	0%	1555	99%	0	0%	69%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	0	0%	1386	89%	0	0%	97%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	0	0%	1386	89%	0	0%	105%
Single	Age Pension	0	0%	1563	100%	0	0%	97%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	0	0%	1555	99%	0	0%	97%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	1563	100%	0	0%	96%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	1563	100%	0	0%	153%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	1563	100%	0	0%	103%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	76	5%	906	58%	2	0%	50%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	26	2%	906	58%	1	0%	62%
Single	Minimum Wage	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	60%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	26	2%	906	58%	1	0%	63%
Total No. of Properties	1563							
households on income support payment	0							
household on minimum wage	2							

 Table 8. Summary table, Gold Coast.



Sunshine Coast

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	5	1%	514	70%	0	0%	73%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	4	1%	514	70%	0	0%	84%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	4	1%	724	99%	0	0%	55%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	3	0%	684	93%	0	0%	85%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	2	0%	684	93%	0	0%	92%
Single	Age Pension	2	0%	732	100%	0	0%	79%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	2	0%	724	99%	0	0%	79%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	732	100%	0	0%	83%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	732	100%	0	0%	134%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	732	100%	0	0%	89%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	63	9%	514	70%	4	1%	44%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	22	3%	514	70%	0	0%	55%
Single	Minimum Wage	3	0%	3	0%	3	0%	48%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	22	3%	514	70%	0	0%	56%
Total No. of Properties	732							
households on income support payment	2							
household on minimum wage	7							

 Table 9. Summary table, Sunshine Coast.



Moreton Bay

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	13	2%	660	83%	0	0%	59%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	4	1%	660	83%	0	0%	68%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	4	1%	786	98%	0	0%	46%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	3	0%	749	94%	0	0%	67%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	3	0%	749	94%	0	0%	73%
Single	Age Pension	2	0%	798	100%	0	0%	68%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	2	0%	786	98%	0	0%	68%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	798	100%	0	0%	88%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	798	100%	0	0%	120%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	798	100%	0	0%	94%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	222	28%	660	83%	103	13%	34%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	66	8%	660	83%	4	1%	43%
Single	Minimum Wage	3	0%	3	0%	3	0%	40%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	66	8%	660	83%	4	1%	44%
Total No. of Properties	799							
households on income support payment	2							
household on minimum wage	106							

Table 10. Summary table, Moreton Bay.



Wide Bay

Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	26	7%	256	72%	0	0%	57%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	6	2%	256	72%	0	0%	65%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	6	2%	346	97%	2	1%	41%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	3	1%	326	91%	0	0%	63%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	1	0%	326	91%	0	0%	69%
Single	Age Pension	1	0%	358	100%	0	0%	61%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	1	0%	346	97%	0	0%	61%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	358	100%	0	0%	87%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	358	100%	0	0%	110%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	358	100%	0	0%	93%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	162	45%	256	72%	69	19%	33%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	73	20%	256	72%	11	3%	42%
Single	Minimum Wage	1	0%	1	0%	1	0%	35%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	73	20%	256	72%	11	3%	42%
Total No. of Properties	358							
households on income support payment	3							
household on minimum wage	70							

Table 11. Summary table, Wide Bay.



Darling Downs–Maranoa

								s a % ne
Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	34	10%	259	76%	4	1%	52%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	15	4%	259	76%	2	1%	60%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	15	4%	331	97%	8	2%	38%
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	10	3%	317	92%	2	1%	62%
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	4	1%	317	92%	1	0%	68%
Single	Age Pension	2	1%	343	100%	0	0%	57%
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	2	1%	331	97%	1	0%	57%
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	343	100%	0	0%	76%
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	343	100%	0	0%	105%
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	343	100%	0	0%	83%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	189	55%	259	76%	110	32%	30%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	94	27%	259	76%	34	10%	38%
Single	Minimum Wage	4	1%	4	1%	4	1%	33%
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	94	27%	259	76%	34	10%	39%
Total No. of Properties	343							
households on income support payment	11							
household on minimum wage	114							

Table 12. Summary table, Darling Downs – Maranoa.



Queensland Outback SA4 (southern area)

								.
Household Type	Payment Type	# Affordable	% Affordable	# Appropriate	% Appropriate	# Affordable& Appropriate	% Affordable& Appropriate	Median Rent as a % of H'hold Income
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	JobSeeker (both adults)	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	44%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	51%
Couple, no children	Age Pension	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single, one child (aged over 8)	JobSeeker	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single	Age Pension	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single	JobSeeker	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%	4	100%	0	0%	-
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A	4	100%	4	100%	4	100%	25%
Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	4	100%	4	100%	4	100%	32%
Single	Minimum Wage	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	-
Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A&B	4	100%	4	100%	4	100%	32%
Total No. of Properties	4							
households on income support payment	0							
household on minimum wage	4							

Table 13. Summary table, Queensland Outback SA4 (southern area).



Appendix B: A note on methodology

This *Snapshot* was undertaken over the weekend of 16–17 March 2025 (the *Snapshot* weekend). Anglicare Australia again partnered with REA Group (who operate the realestate.com.au website) to collect data on rental listings across Australia. State- or region-based data from the total dataset was provided to participating Anglicare and affiliate organisations.

Anglicare Southern Queensland assessed a data set of 335 postcodes that comprised the following Australian Bureau of Statistics Statistical Area Level 4 regions: Brisbane (a combination of inner city, north, south, east, and west SA4 areas, comparable to previous Anglicare SQ Snapshots); Logan–Beaudesert; Ipswich; Gold Coast; Sunshine Coast; Moreton Bay north and south (combined); Wide Bay; Darling Downs–Maranoa; and the southern part of the Queensland Outback SA4, drawing a rough line from Blackall to the Northern Territory border.

Nationally, 51,238 properties were surveyed. The following property types were excluded from the data:

- Advertisements for 'non dwellings' such as workshops, garages, shops, warehouses etc.
- Duplicate advertisements for the same property.
- Properties that included conditions such as house cleaning or childminding.
- Short term leases (less than 6 months), holiday accommodation, boarding houses and student-only accommodation.
- Properties already listed as 'leased'.

For the purposes of the Snapshot, we also applied the following assumptions to the dataset:

- Where rents are banded (e.g., the property was advertised as renting at \$500-\$520 per week) the higher rent in the band was used.
- Where rents were not stated in the advertisement, they were assumed to be too expensive.
- Where rents are listed as "from x" or "offers above x" or "x neg", the figure given as 'x' was used.

Where multiple properties were advertised in the same advertisement (e.g., 2 rooms available in the one share house), these were counted as separate properties. The exception to this rule was where it was not clear from the advertisement how many properties were available. In these cases, they were counted as two properties.

Predefined tests of affordability and appropriateness were then applied to the survey data, resulting in the number of advertised properties on a given day which were adequate for households of different types living on a low income. For a dwelling to be determined as suitable, it had to satisfy tests of both affordability and appropriateness.

Affordability

The *Snapshot* uses a commonly used benchmark of housing affordability called the '30:40 indicator'.⁹⁴ That is, when housing costs are greater than 30% of disposable income and that household's income is in the bottom 40% of the income distribution, the household is deemed to be in 'housing stress'.⁹⁵

Household incomes are derived from the maximum rate of Centrelink pensions, allowances or net minimum wage combined with the Commonwealth Rent Assistance (CRA) and Family Tax Benefits (FTB) where applicable. Consistent with Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI) research about the nature of housing assistance, ⁹⁶ CRA was included in the household's total income, rather than being treated separately as a specific housing allowance. The total resulting income for each household type was used to establish a maximum affordable weekly rent based on the 30% rule.



While any measure of affordability will have weaknesses, the Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI) has found that the 30:40 measure (or the Ratio method) was a reasonable indicator of housing stress and was useful in identifying "households likely to be at risk of problems associated with a lack of affordable housing." The then Council of Australian Governments also used the ratio method in what was the National Affordable Housing Agreement, as its measure of affordability. 98

Appropriateness

We applied the following assumptions with regard to appropriateness:

- A room in a share house, bedsit or at least a one-bedroom property is suitable for a single person with no children.
- A room in a share house is not suitable for couples or those on a disability support pension.
- A 2-bedroom property is suitable for a single person or couple with one child.
- Households with 2 children require a 3-bedroom property. We assume that the children are of different gender, and that it is not appropriate for the children to share a room. We acknowledge that in cases where two children under 18 years are of the same gender, there will be slightly more suitable (2 bedroom) properties available.



References

Effective date: 24/04/25

¹ Wood, L. (2017). The Ache for Home: Rental Affordability in Brisbane. *Parity*, 30(9), 61.

- ³ Wood, L. (2019). *Rental Affordability Snapshot: Brisbane Metropolitan Area, April 2019*. https://anglicaresq.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Anglicare-Southern-Queensland-Rental-Affordability-Snapshot-2019.pdf
- ⁴ Wood, L. (2023). Anglicare Southern Queensland Submission to the Senate Community Affairs References Committee: The Extent and Nature of Poverty in Australia. 3 Feb., p. 7. https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=36ac8a07-7a79-44da-afcc-34965e87335e&subId=732480
- ⁵ Chowdhury, I. (2025, March 21). Every generation thinks they had it the toughest, but for Gen Z, they're probably right. *The Conversation*. https://theconversation.com/every-generation-thinks-they-had-it-the-toughest-but-for-gen-z-theyre-probably-right-249604
- ⁶ Adams, L. (2025, March 13). Australia's rental affordability crisis: The toughest conditions in 18 years. *Real Estate Business*. https://www.realestatebusiness.com.au/industry/29593-australia-s-rental-affordability-crisis-the-toughest-conditions-in-18-years
- ⁷ Walsh, L., Deng Thuc, Z., Huynh, B., & Cutler, B. (2024). *2024 Australian Youth Barometer: Understanding Young People in Australia Today*. Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 12. https://doi.org/10.26180/26212346
- ⁸ Forced moves and unaffordable housing have the most detrimental impact on wellbeing. The former results in a 1.6 per cent decline in the wellbeing index; the latter results in a 0.8 per cent decline in the wellbeing index. Forced moves and unaffordability also depress the mental health score by 1.7 per cent and 0.5 per cent respectively. Ong Vifor J., R., Singh, R., Baker, E., Bentley, R. and Hewton, J. (2022). *Precarious housing and wellbeing: a multidimensional investigation*, AHURI Final Report No. 373, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/finalreports/373
- ⁹ Australian Government. (2025). *Youth Allowance for students and Australian Apprentices*. MyGov, Australian Government, last updated 14 March. https://my.gov.au/en/services/education/help-when-studying/financial-help-while-studying/payments-you-can-get-while-studying/youth-allowance-students-apprentices
- ¹⁰ Keen, L., & Newcomb, M. (2025). The Problematisation of Young People Within Existing Housing-Related Policy in Queensland. *Journal of Applied Youth Studies*, *8*, 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43151-024-00144-z
- ¹¹ Researchers regularly observe that census data underestimates the number of youths who are in need of suitable homes; likewise, many youth responses to rental affordability are not readily captured in census data.
- ¹² Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. *QHYC Fact sheets*. Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. https://www.qyhc.org.au/research-resources/factsheets
- ¹³ Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. *QHYC Fact sheets*. Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. https://www.qyhc.org.au/research-resources/factsheets

² King, S., Bellamy, P., & Bellamy, J. (2023). *Hungry or homeless – Tough Choices in a Cost-of-Living Crisis: How Do Low-Income Families Prioritise?* Anglicare Sydney; Bowden, M. (2020). *Understanding food insecurity in Australia*. Australian Institute of Family Studies. https://aifs.gov.au/resources/policy-and-practice-papers/understanding-food-insecurity-australia; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australian Government. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/australias-welfare-2023-data-insights/contents/summary



- ¹⁴ Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. *QHYC Fact sheets*. Queensland Youth Housing Coalition Inc. https://www.qyhc.org.au/research-resources/factsheets
- ¹⁵ Anon. (2023, November 15). State of the youth on the Fraser Coast. *Hervey Bay Advertiser* [online]. https://www.herveybayadvertiser.com.au/community-voice/state-of-the-youth-on-the-fraser-coast
- ¹⁶ Waters, S. (2025, February 26). Council's Persons Experiencing Homelessness Camping Framework repealed. *City of Moreton Bay*. https://www.moretonbay.qld.gov.au/News/Media/Council%E2%80%99s-Persons-Experiencing-Homelessness-Camping-Framework-repealed
- ¹⁷ Sato, K., Zonca, C., & Ryan, L. (2024, March 13). Brisbane Lord Mayor Adrian Schrinner vows to evict homeless campers from parks within 24 hours. *ABC News*. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2025-03-13/brisbane-city-council-evict-homeless-people-from-parks-/105045248
- ¹⁸ Cansdale, D. (2025, April 15). Gold Coast Mayor Tom Tate's 'tongue in cheek' suggestion to bus homeless to Byron Bay. *ABC Gold Coast* [online]. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2025-04-15/gold-coast-mayor-suggests-bussing-homeless-to-byron-bay/105177782
- ¹⁹ Wood, L., Barnes, A., Maddren, R., & Bourke, C. (2019). The outsiders: more than one way to criminalise homelessness. *Parity*, *32*(4), 33-34.
- ²⁰ Ong Vifor, J, R., Singh, R., Baker, E., Bentley, R. and Hewton, J. (2022) *Precarious housing and wellbeing: a multidimensional investigation*, AHURI Final Report No. 373, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/finalreports/373
- ²¹ Coleman, A. (2000). *Five star motels: Spaces, places and homelessness in Fortitude Valley, Brisbane*. Doctoral thesis, The University of Queensland, Brisbane.
- ²² Walsh, L., Deng Thuc, Z., Huynh, B., & Cutler, B. (2024). *2024 Australian Youth Barometer: Understanding Young People in Australia Today*. Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 62. https://doi.org/10.26180/26212346
- ²³ Wood, L. 2019. *Anglicare Southern Queensland Rental Affordability Snapshot Brisbane Metropolitan Area 2019*. Brisbane: Anglicare Southern Queensland. https://anglicaresq.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Anglicare-Southern-Queensland-Rental-Affordability-Snapshot-2019.pdf
- ²⁴ Anglicare Southern Queensland. (2019). *Inclusive Engagement Toolkit: Understanding the Inclusive Engagement Toolkit*. Anglicare Southern Queensland. https://anglicaresq.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Inclusive-Engagement-Guide.pdf
- ²⁵ Mission Australia. (2020, September 24). Report reveals acute need for improved services and more housing for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people. Media release, 24 September. Mission Australia. https://www.missionaustralia.com.au/media-centre/media-releases/report-reveals-acute-need-for-improved-services-and-more-housing-for-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-young-people
- ²⁶ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2025, March 11). *Specialist homelessness services annual report* 2023–24. Australian Government. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-annual-report/contents/clients-services-and-outcomes
- ²⁷ Currie, J., Castiello, C., Brunker, R., Khalaj, N., Meakin, C., Kefford, G., Lewis, I., Leitch, J., Aleckson, J., & Willis, J. (*ahead-of-print* 2024). Voices from the Frontline: Insights on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Housing Advocacy. *Australian Social Work*. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2024.2393309
- ²⁸ Paulsen, V., & Thoresen, S. (2023). Structural Disadvantages and Individual Characteristics Exacerbating Care Leavers' Housing Vulnerabilities: Overview of Research in Norway and Australia. *Nordic Welfare Research*, *8*(2),



- 141–151. https://doi.org/10.18261/nwr.8.2.6; Zhao, Y., & Waugh, J. (ahead-of-print 2025). Homelessness and Housing Instability Among Care Leavers in Australia: Exploring Housing Pathways and Best Practice Housing Models. Australian Journal of Social Issues. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajs4.392
- ²⁹ Venables, J., Simpson Reeves, L., Ellem, K., Healy, K., & Cullin, J. (*ahead-of-print* 2025). Access to Transition Planning and Support for Young People Who Self-Place When in Out-Of-Home Care: The Perspectives of Young People and Practitioners. *Australian Journal of Social Issues*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajs4.391
- ³⁰ Mendes, P., & Purtell, J. (2021). Relationship-based Models for Supporting Young People Transitioning from Out-of-home Care: Two Case Studies from Victoria, Australia. *Institutionalised Children Explorations and Beyond*, 8(1), 120–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/2349300320967179
- ³¹ Mendes, P., & Purtell, J. (2021). Relationship-based Models for Supporting Young People Transitioning from Out-of-home Care: Two Case Studies from Victoria, Australia. *Institutionalised Children Explorations and Beyond*, *8*(1), 120–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/2349300320967179
- ³² McCarthy, L., & Parr, S. (*ahead-of-print* 2022). Is LGBT homelessness different? Reviewing the relationship between LGBT identity and homelessness. *Housing Studies*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2022.2104819
- ³³ Grant, R., Amos, N., Power, J., Lyons, A., Hill, A., & Bourne, A. (2024). Differences in LGBTQ young people's mental health, wellbeing, and community involvement by residential location. *Social and Cultural Geography*, 26(3), 313–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649365.2024.2403090
- ³⁴ Walsh, L., Deng Thuc, Z., Huynh, B., & Cutler, B. (2024). *2024 Australian Youth Barometer: Understanding Young People in Australia Today*. Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 62. https://doi.org/10.26180/26212346
- ³⁵ Hail-Jares, K. (2023). Queer Young People and Couchsurfing: Entry Pathways, Service Provision, and Maintenance Strategies. *Youth*, *3*(1), 199–216. https://doi.org/10.3390/youth3010014
- ³⁶ Couch, J. (2011). A New Way Home: Refugee young people and homelessness in Australia. *Journal of Social Inclusion*, 2, 39–52. https://doi.org/10.36251/josi23
- ³⁷ Easthope, H., Stone, W., & Cheshire, L. (2018). The decline of 'advantageous disadvantage' in gateway suburbs in Australia: The challenge of private housing market settlement for newly arrived migrants. *Urban Studies*, *55*(9), 1904–1923. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098017700791
- ³⁸ Flatau, P., Colic-Peisker, V., Bauskis, A., Maginn, P., Buergelt, P., & Housing, A. (2014). *Refugees, housing, and neighbourhoods in Australia*. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, p. 49. http://www.ahuri.edu.au/publications/projects/p82015
- ³⁹ Ziersch, A., Walsh, M., Due, C., & Duivesteyn, E. (2017). Exploring the relationship between housing and health for refugees and asylum seekers in south Australia: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(9), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14091036; Ziersch, A., Walsh, M., & Due, C. (2024). Housing and health for people from refugee and asylum-seeking backgrounds: findings from an Australian qualitative longitudinal study. *BMC Public Health*, *24*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-024-18616-5
- ⁴⁰ Couch, J. (2019, August 21). 'We all slept in the car, five of us'. Young refugees talk about being homeless in Australia. *The Conversation*. https://theconversation.com/we-all-slept-in-the-car-five-of-us-young-refugees-talk-about-being-homeless-in-australia-121559
- ⁴¹ Mann, C., Vichta-Ohlsen, R., & Baker, L. (2022). Young Women Navigating Homelessness and Pregnancy: Pathways Into and Barriers Out of Homelessness. *Parity*, *35*(5), 17–19.



- ⁴² Mann, C., Vichta-Ohlsen, R., & Baker, L. (2022). Young Women Navigating Homelessness and Pregnancy: Pathways Into and Barriers Out of Homelessness. *Parity*, *35*(5), 17–19.
- ⁴³ Riele, K. T., Mills, M., Lynch, D., Rudling, E., Carroll, A., & Sullivan, A. (2025, March 20). Attendance matters but official reports don't tell the whole story. *EduResearch Matters: A voice for Australian educational researchers*. https://blog.aare.edu.au/attendance-matters-but-official-reports-dont-tell-the-whole-story/
- ⁴⁴ Elkins, M., Farrell, L., & Fry, J. M. (2023). Homelessness and housing insecurity among youth in Australia: sequence analysis of housing careers. *Housing Studies*, 39(10), 2547. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2023.2203081; Nikolof, A., Brown, S. J., Clark, Y., Glover, K., & Gartland, D. (2023). A Systematic Review of Child Health, Developmental and Educational Outcomes Associated with High Mobility in Indigenous Children from Australia, Canada and New Zealand. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(5), 2–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20054332
- ⁴⁵ Piper, A., & Stevenson, A. (Eds). (2019). *Gender Violence in Australia: Historical Perspectives*. Monash University Publishing; Fitz-Gibbon, K. (2021). *Our national shame: Violence against women*. Monash University Publishing.
- ⁴⁶ Summers, A., Shortridge, T., & Sobeck, K. (2025). *The Cost of Domestic Violence to Women's Employment and Education*. University of Technology Sydney. https://www.violenceorpoverty.com/the-cost
- ⁴⁷ Haslam, D., Mathews, B., Pacella, R., Scott, J. G., Finkelhor, D., Higgins, D., Meinck, F., Erskine, H. E., Thomas, H. J., Lawrence, D. M., & Malacova, E. (2023). *The prevalence and impact of child maltreatment in Australia: Findings from the Australian Child Maltreatment Study: Brief Report*. Queensland University of Technology, p. 3. https://doi.org/10.5204/rep.eprints.239397
- ⁴⁸ Flatau, P., Lester, L., Seivwright, A., Teal, R., Dobrovic, J., Vallesi, S., Hartley, C., & Callis, Z. (2021). *Ending homelessness in Australia: An evidence and policy deep dive*. Centre for Social Impact, The University of Western Australia and University of New South Wales. https://doi.org/10.25916/ntba-f006; Kalemba, J., Kos, A., Greenland, N., Plummer, J., Brennan, N., Freeburn, T., & Christie, R. (2022). *Without a home: First-time youth homelessness in the COVID-19 period*. Mission Australia. https://www.missionaustralia.com.au/media-centre/media-releases/1-in-20-young-australians-plunged-into-first-time-homelessness-during-pandemic">https://www.missionaustralia.com.au/media-centre/media-releases/1-in-20-young-australians-plunged-into-first-time-homelessness-during-pandemic
- ⁴⁹ Barker, P. (2024). Breaking the Cycle: Addressing Domestic and Family Violence and Youth Homelessness in Australia. *Parity*, *37*(3), 95.
- ⁵⁰ Barker, P. (2024). Breaking the Cycle: Addressing Domestic and Family Violence and Youth Homelessness in Australia. *Parity*, *37*(3), 95.
- ⁵¹ Barker, P. (2024). Breaking the Cycle: Addressing Domestic and Family Violence and Youth Homelessness in Australia. *Parity*, *37*(3), 95.
- ⁵² Flatau, P., Lester, L., Seivwright, A., Teal, R., Dobrovic, J., Vallesi, S., Hartley, C., & Callis, Z. (2021). *Ending homelessness in Australia: An evidence and policy deep dive*. Centre for Social Impact, The University of Western Australia and University of New South Wales. https://doi.org/10.25916/ntba-f006; Queensland Family & Child Commission. (2024). *Exiting youth detention: Preventing crime by improving post-release support*. Queensland Government. https://www.qfcc.qld.gov.au/sector/monitoring-and-reviewing-systems/young-people-in-youth-justice/exiting-youth-detention
- ⁵³ Queensland Family & Child Commission. (2024). *Exiting youth detention: Preventing crime by improving post-release support*. Queensland Government, p. 63. https://www.qfcc.qld.gov.au/sector/monitoring-and-reviewing-systems/young-people-in-youth-justice/exiting-youth-detention



- ⁵⁴ Queensland Family & Child Commission. (2024). *Exiting youth detention: Preventing crime by improving post-release support*. Queensland Government. https://www.qfcc.qld.gov.au/sector/monitoring-and-reviewing-systems/young-people-in-youth-justice/exiting-youth-detention
- ⁵⁵ Hosein, A., Balloo, K., Byrom, N., & Essau, C. A. (2023). The role of the university environment in shaping education and employment inequalities. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, *45*(2), 223–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2023.2180170; Corney, T., du Plessis, K., Woods, B., Lou, C., Dewhurst, A., & Mawren, D. (2024). 'If you are feeling alone and you are not feeling safe, it impacts everything': A mixed-methods exploration of international students' accommodation, subjective wellbeing and mental health help-seeking. *BMC Public Health*, *24*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-024-18691-8
- ⁵⁶ Thrower, J. (2024). *University is expensive: Impacts of rising university costs on young people*. The Australia Institute. https://australiainstitute.org.au/report/university-is-expensive/
- ⁵⁷ Nnenna, I., Baldwin, C., & Lathouras, A. (2020). Tertiary students' housing priorities: Finding home away from home. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research / Revue Canadianne de Recherche Urbaine*, *29*(1), 55–69. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26929897; Purcell, T., & Davidson, D. (2023). Homelessness and Housing Instability in Young People Engaged in Tertiary Education in Australia: An urgent call for research. *Social Alternatives*, *42*(2), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.310097186896406
- ⁵⁸ Purcell, T., & Davidson, D. (2023). Homelessness and Housing Instability in Young People Engaged in Tertiary Education in Australia: An urgent call for research. *Social Alternatives*, *42*(2), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.310097186896406
- ⁵⁹ Hastings, C., Overgaard, C., Wilson, S., Ramia, G., Morris, A., & Mitchell, E. (2023). Crowded house: Accommodation precarity and self-reported academic performance of international students. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, *54*(7), 1190–1209. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2023.2184199; Mulvey, B., Morris, A., & Ashton, L. (2024). Differentiated experiences of financial precarity and lived precariousness among international students in Australia. *Higher Education*, *87*(3), 741–760. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-023-01033-9
- ⁶⁰ Morris, A., Wilson, S., Mitchell, E., Ramia, G., & Hastings, C. (2023). International students struggling in the private rental sector in Australia prior to and during the pandemic. *Housing Studies*, *38*(8), 1589–1610. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2021.1961695; Ramia, G., Mitchell, E., Morris, A., Wilson, S., Hastings, C., & Davies, J. (2024). Explaining Government Policy Inaction on International Student Housing in Australia: The Perspectives of Stakeholders. *Higher Education Policy*, *37*(1), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-022-00288-8
- 61 Morley, C., Hodge, L., Clarke, J., McIntyre, H., Mays, J., Briese, J., & Kostecki, T. (2024). 'THIS UNPAID PLACEMENT MAKES YOU POOR': Australian social work students' experiences of the financial burden of field education. *Social Work Education*, *43*(4), 1039–1057. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2022.2161507; Beks, H., Walsh, S., Clayden, S., Watson, L., Zwar, J., & Alston, L. (2024). Financial implications of unpaid clinical placements for allied health, dentistry, medical, and nursing students in Australia: a scoping review with recommendations for policy, research, and practice. *BMC Health Services Research*, *24*(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-024-11888-y; Moran, L., Capper, T., Gupta, M., Meedya, S., & Mendez, S. (2024). Financial hardship and Australian midwifery students: A scoping review and thematic analysis. *Women and Birth*, *37*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2024.101640; Tischler, C., Mcdonald, K., & Reeves, K. (2024). *Accessing Latent Care Industry Workforces for Western Victoria: Preliminary Report*. Future Regions Research Centre, Horsham Hub, Federation University. https://wsm.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/PRELIM1.pdf
- 62 Grant-Smith, D., & de Zwaan, L. (2019). Don't spend, eat less, save more: Responses to the financial stress experienced by nursing students during unpaid clinical placements. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 35, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2018.12.005; Grant-Smith, D., & de Zwaan, L. (2023). *The impact of financial stress and hardship on work-integrated learning wellbeing*. QUT Centre for Justice Briefing, (46).



https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459019-09914-4; Lambert, K., Austin, K., Charlton, K., Heins, R., Kennedy, M., Kent, K., Lutze, J., Nicholls, N., O'Flynn, G., Probst, Y., Walton, K., & McMahon, A. (2024). Placement poverty has major implications for the future health and education workforce: a cross-sectional survey. *Australian Health Review*, 49(1). https://doi.org/10.1071/AH24233

- ⁶³ Walsh, L., Deng Thuc, Z., Huynh, B., & Cutler, B. (2024). 2024 Australian Youth Barometer: Understanding Young People in Australia Today. Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 41. https://doi.org/10.26180/26212346
- ⁶⁴ Department of Education. (2024). *Introduction of a new Commonwealth Prac Payment*. Budget 2024-25, Australian Government. https://www.education.gov.au/higher-education/commonwealth-prac-payment
- ⁶⁵ Wood, L. (2024). *Youth Justice Reform Select Committee inquiry into youth justice reform in Queensland*. Anglicare Southern Queensland, 20. https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/com/YJRSC-6004/YJRSC-54D8/submissions/00000094.pdf
- ⁶⁶ Moran, L., Capper, T., Gupta, M., Meedya, S., & Mendez, S. (2024). Financial hardship and Australian midwifery students: A scoping review and thematic analysis. *Women and Birth*, *37*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2024.101640
- 67 Aalders, R. (2023). Buy now, pay later: Redefining indebted users as responsible consumers. *Information Communication and Society*, *26*(5), 941–956. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2022.2161830; Martin, N., & Lynn, D. (2022). The Afterpay Hangover. *Loyola Consumer Law Review*, *34*(3), 529–557; King, A. (2023). *Buy Now, Struggle Later? Exploring the impacts of Buy Now Pay Later on Anglicare Tasmania's financial counselling clients*. Social Action & Research Centre, Anglicare Tasmania. https://www.anglicare-tas.org.au/research/buy-now-struggle-later/
- ⁶⁸ Stambe, R.-M., Plage, S., Venables, J., & Kuskoff, E. (2024). *Hanging by a Thread: Our Search for Home A Youth Photovoice Project Report*. The University of Queensland, p. 5. https://anglicaresq.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/20240507 Hanging-by-a-thread-report Stambe.pdf; Hail-Jares, K., Vichta-Ohlsen, R., Butler, T., & Dunne, A. (2023). Psychological distress among young people who are couchsurfing: an exploratory analysis of correlated factors. *Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness*, 32(1), 174. https://doi.org/10.1080/10530789.2021.1967647
- ⁶⁹ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2025, March 11). *Specialist homelessness services annual report* 2023–24. Australian Government. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-annual-report/contents/clients-services-and-outcomes
- ⁷⁰ Queensland Youth Housing Coalition. (2018). FACTS AND FIGURES: Contributing to UN Development Goal: Sustainable cities and communities young people in Moreton (North and South) Region. Queensland Youth Housing Coalition. https://www.qyhc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Moreton-Factsheet-2018.pdf
- ⁷¹ Hail-Jares, K., Vichta-Ohlsen, R., Butler, T., & Dunne, A. (2023). Psychological distress among young people who are couchsurfing: an exploratory analysis of correlated factors. *Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness*, 32(1), 174–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/10530789.2021.1967647
- ⁷² Huda, F. Y., Kamruzzaman, L., Nikfalazar, S., Koh, S. Y., Arunachalam, D., & Lukose, D. (2024). The Trends and Patterns of Informal Housing Practices in Australia. *Urban Policy and Research*, *42*(4), 445–462. https://doi.org/10.1080/08111146.2024.2399031
- ⁷³ Huda, F. Y., Kamruzzaman, L., Nikfalazar, S., Koh, S. Y., Arunachalam, D., & Lukose, D. (2024). The Trends and Patterns of Informal Housing Practices in Australia. *Urban Policy and Research*, *42*(4), 445–462. https://doi.org/10.1080/08111146.2024.2399031



- ⁷⁴ Chia, J., & Erol, I. (2022). Young Australians living with parents: free and pay board as popular housing tenure choices. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, 37(4), 1677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-021-09911-3
- ⁷⁵ Walsh, L., Deng Thuc, Z., Huynh, B., & Cutler, B. (2024). *2024 Australian Youth Barometer: Understanding Young People in Australia Today*. Monash Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 13. https://doi.org/10.26180/26212346
- ⁷⁶ Huynh, T. B., Cutler, B., Deng, Z., Leap, A., Zheng, C., Yin, M., Walters, R., & Banh, S. (2024). *Young People's Perspectives on Missing Out on Being Young*. Centre for Youth Policy and Education Practice, Monash University, p. 4. https://doi.org/10.26180/26132824
- ⁷⁷ For example, Cilento, M. (2025, April 14). A weekend of bad policy announcements. *CEDA CEO Update*. Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA).
- ⁷⁸ Ting, I. and Palmer, A. (2025, April 16). These charts show how quickly rent has outpaced incomes across Australia. *ABC News* [online]. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2025-04-16/charts-show-how-fast-rent-has-outpaced-income-across-australia/105179340
- ⁷⁹ Australian Council of Social Services. (2025). *ACOSS Election Policy Platform 2025*. Australian Council of Social Services. https://www.acoss.org.au/acoss-election-policy-platform-2025/#income2
- ⁸⁰ Queensland Council of Social Services. (2025). *Queensland Budget 2025-2026. End Queensland's Housing Crisis*. Queensland Council of Social Services. https://www.qcoss.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/2.-End-Queenslands-housing-crisis.pdf
- ⁸¹ Queensland Government (2025, February 21). *New housing on the fast-track for nine local councils*. Media release, The Hon. Jarrod Bleijie, Deputy Premier, Minister for State Development, Infrastructure and Planning and Minister for Industrial Relations, 21 February. https://statements.qld.gov.au/statements/102063
- ⁸² Queensland Government. (2025, April 7). Social housing construction boom to add 5,000 homes across Queensland. Media release, The Hon. Sam O'Connor, Minister for Housing and Public Works and Minister for Youth, 7 April. https://statements.qld.gov.au/statements/102344
- ⁸³ Queensland Council of Social Services. (2025) *Queensland Budget 2025-2026. End Queensland's Housing Crisis*. Queensland Council of Social Services. https://www.qcoss.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/2.-End-Queenslands-housing-crisis.pdf
- ⁸⁴ Liberal National Party. (2025). *Housing: A place to call home with the Securing Our Housing Foundations Plan.* Liberal National Party election commitments. https://online.lnp.org.au/housing
- ⁸⁵ Queensland Government. (2025, March 28). *Delivering homes to tackle Labor's soaring social housing waitlist*. Media release, The Hon. Sam O'Connor, Minister for Housing and Public Works and Minister for Youth, 28 March. https://statements.qld.gov.au/statements/102289
- ⁸⁶ Queensland Government. (2025, March 28). *Delivering homes to tackle Labor's soaring social housing waitlist*. Media release, The Hon. Sam O'Connor, Minister for Housing and Public Works and Minister for Youth, 28 March. https://statements.qld.gov.au/statements/102289
- ⁸⁷ Liberal National Party. (2025). *Housing: A place to call home with the Securing Our Housing Foundations Plan.* Liberal National Party election commitments. https://online.lnp.org.au/housing
- ⁸⁸ Waters, S. (2025, February 26). *Council's Persons Experiencing Homelessness Camping Framework repealed*. City of Moreton Bay. https://www.moretonbay.qld.gov.au/News/Media/Council%E2%80%99s-Persons-Experiencing-Homelessness-Camping-Framework-repealed; Sato, K., Zonca, C., & Ryan, L. (2024, March 13). Brisbane Lord Mayor Adrian Schrinner vows to evict homeless campers from parks within 24 hours. *ABC News*



[online]. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2025-03-13/brisbane-city-council-evict-homeless-people-from-parks-/105045248

- ⁸⁹ Hills, Jackson. (2025, 15 April). *Local councils have been in the spotlight recently when it comes to responding to homelessness challenges. Its not easy, and the task is getting even harder* [LinkedIn Post]. LinkedIn. Retrieved April 17, 2025. https://www.linkedin.com/feed/update/urn:li:activity:7317497869567938560/
- ⁹⁰ Keszler, S. (2025, April 17). Homeless residents living in Moreton Bay park have tents, belongings bulldozed and dumped by council rangers. *7News* [online]. https://7news.com.au/news/homeless-residents-living-in-moreton-bay-park-have-tents-belongings-bulldozed-and-dumped-by-council-rangers-c-18317342
- ⁹¹ Flatau, P., Lester, L., Seivwright, A., Teal, R., Dobrovic, J., Vallesi, S., Hartley, C., & Callis, Z. (2021). *Ending homelessness in Australia: An evidence and policy deep dive*. Centre for Social Impact, The University of Western Australia and University of New South Wales, p. 16. https://doi.org/10.25916/ntba-f006
- ⁹² For example, the *Queensland Housing Strategy 2017-2027* (2017), *The Queensland Youth Strategy* (2017), and *Towards ending homelessness for young Queenslanders 2022-2027* (2022). For policy analysis, see: Keen, L., & Newcomb, M. (2025). The Problematisation of Young People Within Existing Housing-Related Policy in Queensland. *Journal of Applied Youth Studies*, *8*, 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43151-024-00144-z. At Federal level there have been many child and youth wellbeing strategies, such as the National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy, but as Brisbane Youth Service CEO Pam Barker points out, they have not adequately addressed the issue of homelessness, see: Barker, P. (2023). *It's time we turned off the taps. Australia's children and young people should not be left homeless*. Brisbane Youth Service. https://brisyouth.org/research/australias-children-and-young-people-should-not-be-left-homeless/
- ⁹³ Alidoust, S., Wyeth, S., Reddel, T., Cornish, G., Lata, L. N., Johnson, L., & Shaweesh, M. (2024). Sustaining a resilient housing system in southeast Queensland. *Australian Planner*, *60*(2), 86–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/07293682.2024.2309352
- ⁹⁴ Lovering, Matthew. (2014). Housing affordability stress: Understanding the 30:40 indicator, *Evidence Review*, 54, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute.
- ⁹⁵ Refer Harding, A., Phillips, B. and Kelly, S. (2004). Trends in Housing Stress, NATSEM, Paper presented at the National Summit on Housing Affordability, Canberra.
- ⁹⁶ Hulse, K. (2003). *An international review of housing allowances*, AHURI Research and Policy Bulletin No. 18, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne. www.ahuri.edu.au/research/research-and-policy-bulletins/18
- ⁹⁷ Yates, J. and Milligan, V. (2007). *Housing Affordability: A 21st Century Problem*. AHURI Final Report No. 105. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne. www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/105; Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (2019, May 23). *Understanding the 30:40 indicator of housing affordability stress*. Brief, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/analysis/brief/understanding-3040-indicator-housing-affordability-stress
- ⁹⁸ COAG Reform Council. (2011). *National Affordable Housing Agreement: Performance Report for 2009–10*, COAG Reform Council, Sydney.